CITY OF ELIZABETH CITY
PLANNING COMMISSION
REGULAR MEETING
Tuesday, September 1, 2020
4:00 PM

MEMBERS PRESENT

Ernest Sutton - Chairman (Absent)
Johnson Biggs - Vice Chairman
Carlton O'Neal (Absent)

Suzanne Stallings

Gary White

Kevin Johnson

Also present were Carter Thompson, Community Development Director, Kellen Long,
Planner, and LaToya Harper, Secretary to the Commission.

Vice Chairman Biggs called the meeting to order at approximately 4:00 PM and stated a
quorum.

Vice Chairman Biggs called for a motion to approve the agenda as presented.

Commissioner White made a motion to APPROVE the agenda as presented.
Commissioner Johnson seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: White, Johnson, and
Stallings. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED

Vice Chairman Biggs called for a motion to approve the minutes from the special
planning commission meeting on Tuesday, August 18th, 2020.

Planner Long stated that the minutes had been revised to correct grammar and
punctuation.

Commissioner White made a motion to approve the minutes with the corrections
presented. Commissioner Stallings seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: White,
Johnson and Stallings. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Secretary Harper, read the STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE as follows:

Elizabeth City Code of Ethics provides that public officials and employees be
independent, impartial, and responsible to the public; that government decisions and
policy be made in proper channels of the governmental structure; that public office not
be used for personal gain; and that the public have confidence in the integrity of its



government. In recognition of these goals and in keeping with the ethical standards of
conduct for city public officials and its employees, disclosure of interest in legislative
action must be stated for public record, as per City of Elizabeth City Code of Ordinances
Section 32.04. Any official act or action before the Planning Commission shall be
publicly disclose on the record of the Commission the nature and extent of such interest
and the Commissioner shall withdraw from any consideration of the matter if excused
by the Commission pursuant to G. S. 160 A-75.

Vice Chairman Biggs stated for the record that one of the applicants on the agenda is a
member of the establishment for which he is employed at. Vice Chairman Biggs stated
that the City Attorney, Mr. Morgan had been made aware of this. The City Attorney
stated to Vice Chairman Biggs that there was not a conflict of interest since Vice
Chairman Biggs was on a salary basis and did not benefit monetarily from the applicant.

Vice Chairman Biggs stated the new business as follows:

e CASE NO: RZ-01-20, filed MHB, INC. to rezone a portion of tract one and two
located at the northwest corner of Halstead Boulevard Extension and Thunder
Road (Parcel ID’s 8903481702) from Apartment District (AD) to Highway
Business (HB) District. Both properties are located within the City’s municipal
limits and the Halstead Boulevard Extension Overlay District

e RELINQUISHMENT OF ZONING BOUNDARY FOR CITY OF ELIZABETH
CITY ETJ: Pasquotank County is requesting Elizabeth City to relinquish ETJ
zoning rights of the following parcels: 890404624892 to construct a recycling
facility center.

e CASE NO: SUP 01-20, filed by Nicole Hyatt and Mell Lescota for the property
located at 512 East Main Street. This property is located in the Central Business
(CB) ZONING district. The applicants are requesting approval to operate a wine
bar at the subject property.

e CASE NO: RZ-02-20 files by Mid-Atlantic Christian University to rezone the
following properties St., 709 N. Poindexter St., AND 715 n. Poindexter St., 502 E.
Cypress St., and 601 Walnut St.) The properties are currently zoned R-6,
Residential. The applicant is requesting to rezone the properties to Office and
Institutional (O&I).

Planner Long began her presentation on Case No: RZ 1-20

Planner long indicated that Tract 1 is approximately 34.5 acres and is located on the
northwest corner of Halstead Boulevard Extension and Thunder Road and that Tract 2
is approximately 100 acres on the north and west side. Planner Long also explained
that Tract 1 has a depth of approximately 1, 334.93 of total street frontage and that
Tract 2 has a depth of approximately 3,000 feet and approximately 2,492 feet of street
frontage.



Planner Long reported that both tracts are located in the City’s municipal limits and
within the Halstead Boulevard Extension Overlay District.

Planner Long clarified that when making a determination to approve or deny a rezoning,
planning staff considers the area’s zoning pattern, adjacent land uses and if the proposed
zoning is compatible with the Joint Elizabeth City and Pasquotank County Land Use Plan
(LUP), also known as future land use designation. Planner Long also explained that in
addition, Staff insures that the property does not conflict with adjacent zoning or uses
and that the change in zoning is not considered spot zoning. Planner Long defined Spot
zoning as the application of zoning to a specific parcel or parcels of land within a
larger zoned area when the rezoning is usually at odds with a city's master plan and
current zoning restrictions.

Planner Long recounted that MPB, Inc. is requesting a rezoning of 7.13 acres or 310,423
square feet of tract one from Apartment District (AD) to Highway Business (HB) District.
Planner Long reported that MPB, Inc. was also requesting a rezone of 6.93 acres or
301,734 square feet of tract 2 from Apartment District to Highway Business (HB) District.

Planner Longs explained that at the time there were two future land use designations
shown on the two parcels. Planner Long identified that the southern half of the parcel
was designated as a mixed use land designation, which also allows for medium/high
density residential, while the northern portion of the property is designated as
medium/high density residential.

Planner Long also confirmed that the mixed land use designation allows for the following
uses, general commercial, institutional, and single and multi-family residential.

Planner Long stated that staff was of the opinion that the proposed rezoning of 14.06
acres from Apartment District (AD) to Highway Business (HB) District was appropriate
because at that time there were two designated land uses for the subject parcels. Planner
Long stated that the requested rezoning area supported the future land use designation
of mixed use, but was inconsistent with medium/ high residential designated land use,
because majority of the southern portion of both tracts was designated for mixed use.

Planner Long recommended APPROVAL of the application with the following condition:

e The new highway business zoning boundaries shown in tract 1 and tract 2 must
be recombined into a single lot before approval of a site plan can be issued.

Planner Long specified that the proposed rezoning request of 14.06 acres from parcels
8903 481702 and 8903 382326 from Apartment District (AD) to Highway Business (HB)
was found to be consistent with the mixed land use plan designation and the Elizabeth
City, Pasquotank County 2012 Advanced Core Land Use Plan.

Vice Commissioner Biggs asked if there was anyone there to represent MPB Inc.



Mr. Carl Gaborik stated his name for the record as representing MPB, Inc. of 6015 Popular
Hall Drive, Norfolk, VA 23502.

Mr. Gaborik simply emphasized that he didn't really have a lot to add to the staff report
provided, however, he stated that their intention to create a clean line between the two
existing zoning districts.

Mr. Gaborik also noted that with the current split zoning of both properties, it would be
very difficult to proposed a development on the property. Mr. Gaborik stated that medical
offices are not permitted in the Apartment (AD) zoning district.

Planner Long stated that when you are rezoning you have to consider all of the uses that
would be in that zone you are rezoning to.

Vice Commissioner Biggs asked if there was anyone from the public that wished to speak
in regards to CASE NO: RZ-01-20.

There was no one present from the public wishing to speak on CASE NO: RZ-01-20.

Chairman Biggs also asked if there were any comments received by staff from the public
regarding CASE NO: RZ-01-20.

Planner Long confirmed that there were no comments officially summited to be read, but
there was a call from an adjacent property who was in favor of the proposed rezoning,
however, the adjacent property owner did not submit any official comments to be read
into the record.

Planner Long noted that all adjacent property owners who live within 100 feet of both
parcels were notified.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked if he could entertain a motion.

Commissioner White made a motion to APPROVE CASE NO: RZ-01-20 with the condition
imposed by staff. Commissioner Stallings seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR:
Stallings, White, AND Johnson. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Vice Commissioner Biggs read the following project summary for the next item on the
agenda: RELINQUISHMENT OF ZONING BOUNDARY FOR CITY OF ELIZABETH
CITY’s ETJ: Pasquotank County is requesting Elizabeth City to relinquish ETJ zoning
rights of the following parcels: 890404624892 to construct a recycling facility center.
Director Thompson began her presentation by stating that Pasquotank County and
American Towers are requesting Elizabeth City to relinquish ETJ zoning rights of the
following parcels to expand the current recycling center.

Director Thompson confirmed that the ETJ is not a part of the City’s Municipal Limits.



Director Thompson explained that ETJ stands for Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction, which is a
one-mile radius around the current municipal limits.

Director Thompson stressed that if the relinquishment is approved the city will have no
zoning rights for the approved referenced parcels.

Director Thompson also specified that because the zoning boundary of the city will change
the zoning map will need to be approved as well as the relinquishment of the ETJ planning
rights for the listed parcels.

Director Thompson stated that because of the unusual nature of this request staff refrains
from recommendation of approval or denial.

Director Thomas reported two comments received from adjacent property owners. The
first comment was received from Rick Durren who had the following complaints:

e Too much traffic

e Stuff flies out and not picked up

e Road not set up for all the heavy trucks
e This is a residential area

Director Thomas read an email from a Ms. Paul to be entered into the minutes:

“Well, I was hoping to get any preliminary construction plans on the sites. Just concerned
with a good buffer of trees behind my property. My understanding is that 4 of us was
sent these letters. Looks like the city would be taking the R-15 doing off so the County
can go forward with their plans. I concerned they will not leave enough tree buffer not
to impact my home economically. There aren’t enough trees or distant, leaving homes
dealing with noise, flood lighting and unpleasing aesthetics. That’s what they have done
on the with the present Re-Cycle Center.

I would like this read at the city meeting Tuesday, so I'm sending this email to those in
planning.”

Director Thomas stated that the address for the property owner had been listed in the
packets.

This concluded the public comments received for the proposed relinquishment.

Vice Chairman Biggs introduced Michael Cox, the Pasquotank County Attorney, to speak
on behalf of the proposed relinquishment.

Mr. Michael Cox stated briefly that this case has been in the works for years now dating
back to at least 2017.



Mr. Cox began his presentation to the Commission.

Mr. Cox started off by stating that the one property owner who had a complaint named
Ms. Paul would actually benefit from the rezoning because it would actually move the site
closer to the road and further from their propoerty.

Mr. Cox went on to say that the County is requesting the City to relinquish a small portion
of this ETJ.

Mr. Cox noted that the purpose of this is to improve the solid waste recycling and
emergency lay down programs and therefore health, safety, and welfare of all citizens.

Mr. Cox also mentioned that besides the solid waste facility that they were also looking
for an area that during a hurricane or ice storm where there may be debris that need to
be laid down on its side as well, they would also need a lay down site.

Mr. Cox stressed that one important fact to noe was that all county and city residents pay
the annual $120 solid waste fee. Mr. Cox said that this issue was both important to County
and City residents who all pay a solid waste fee.

Mr. Cox concluded by mentioning that the functionality of the wellfield site has become
compromised because of flooding, restricted layout, and configuration. Mr. Cox stated
that these proposed improvements would improve or completely eliminate those
limitations.

Mr. Cox reminded the Commission that the recycling facility was put in place
approximately 1990 and Vicky’s Ridge (adjacent neighborhood) came afterwards, about
eight years later.

Mr. Cox also referred to some maps that showed recycling sites within the county. Mr.
Cox stated that the Wellfield site is the one that is closest to the city limits, therefore it
receives a lot of traffic through there.

Mr. Cox stated that the Wellfield Recycling Facility is one of 7 recycling sites in service
since 1990 and has over 7300 customers.

Mr. Cox explained that annually there are 280 collections and over 150 tons of waste
materials a month at this particular site.

Mr. Cox noted that residential growth has definitely occurred (referring to Matthew Acres)
and other new subdivisions in the area.

Commissioner Stallings commented that the flooding has been an issue for a long time
and wanted to know how this proposal would fix or address the flooding issue.



Commissioner Stallings was curious as to why something had not been done previously
referring to the statement by Mr. Cox about having to use stepping stones, complaining
that 2014 is a really long time to address such a hazard.

Mr. Pat McDowell remarked that the quick answer to that question is to raise it up.

Mr. McDowell informed that there has been ongoing flooding out there for some time and
that the only way to get away from the flooding is to go up, because the ultimate
improvements would have been done downstream.

Commissioner White recalled when he was on the Board of Commissioners years ago
between 2010 and 2014. Commissioner White said that their original intent was to swap
land.

Mr. McDowell stated that one thing the county has struggled with concerning those who
have lived in the area for a long time and have suffered through hurricanes and the
consequences of the trash and everything created is that stuff has to be moved quickly
out of the streets and so forth and has to have a place to go temporarily.

Mr. McDowell informed the Commission that the County has to prepare for it to end up
in the landfill.

Mr. McDowell emphasized that these improvements are a long time coming and needed.

Commissioner Johnson asked so far as the heavy trucks, how will that be addressed
(regarding a comment made by an adjacent property owner).

Mr. McDowell stated that the roads on Wellfield Road are as good as they are going to
get and that Wellfield Road handles a lot of traffic. Mr. McDowell alos stated that NC DOT
maintains Wellfield Road.

Commissioner Stallings confirmed with the applicants that it would be extenuating
circumstances when there might be more traffic coming and going from the site, for
instance in an ice storm, hurricane, flooding, etc.

Mr. McDowell agreed stating there will be no difference because it's not a brand new site,
it's been there since the 90s.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked in reference to the flood waters, when the water recedes
where does that water go.

Vice Chairman Biggs wanted to know if the water would end up in any of the residential
neighborhoods.



Mr. McDowell suggested that ultimately it would go to Knobbs Creek, down the creek
would be the end result.

Mr. McDowell stated that the county has done some cleaning on the ditch close to Vicki’s
Ridge about a month prior. Mr. McDowell could not recall how much money was spent
during the cleaning process, however, Mr. McDowell stated that ditch cleaning was a
band-aid compared to what was needed.

Commissioner White inquired about the price tag,

Mr. Cox reminded Commissioner White that this had been in closed session item bid for
under acquisition of real estate and that they had reached an agreement with American
Tower.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked if there were any more comments on this matter.
Janice Brown, Recycling Coordinator for Pasquotank County, addresses the Commission.

Ms. Brown reiterated just as it had been spoken prior, that this has been going on for
years.

Ms. Brown explained that it was an ongoing problem and that the proposed expansion
would not change anything in regards the traffic.

Ms. Brown explained that they have over 700 customers per month and that American
Tower had given them the run around for years, but they had finally got them to come
on board and now they were asking the Commissioners to come on board so that they
can get the process moving.

Ms. Brown remarked that as for the comments from the residents, they are only operating
12 hours a day. Ms. Brown explained that the trucks go until about 3:30 in the afternoon
unless there is a storm.

Ms. Brown stressed that they were simply trying to make the site better not more
populated.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked if there were any additional comments.

Mr. Brad Gardner, Solid Waste Director, believed that the issue boiled down to health and
safety. Mr. Gardner believed that if they could make the area a horseshoe shaped
travelers would be able to see both ways easier.

Mr. Gardner turned the comments over to Mr. Charles Jordan, the chairman of the Solid
Waste Committee.



Mr. Jordan stressed that they are simply trying to help the residents of Pasquotank County
which includes the residents of the city also.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked if he had heard all members of the public and representatives.
There were no more public comments regarding this case.
Vice Chairman Biggs asked if there was a motion on the floor.

Chairman White made a motion to recommend approval of the County’s request for
RELINQUISHMENT OF ZONING BOUNDARY FOR CITY OF ELIZABETH CITY's
ETJ for the following parcels 890404624892 and 890404623736. Commissioner Stallings
seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: Stallings, White, and Johnson. NONE
OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Vice Chairman Biggs entertained the Staff Analysis on

Planner Long stated that the third item on the agenda this afternoon was CASE NO: SUP
01-20 by Mel Lescota and Nicole Hyatt for the property located at 512 East Main Street.

Planner Long confirmed that the applicants are requesting to operate a Wine Bar at the
subject property.

Planner Long reported that the proposed Wine Bar space is located in the center business
zoning district.

Planner Long stated the City’s development standards for the operation of a bar, night
club, or tavern for the record.

Planner Long stated that based on the staff’s research of the subject property and
surrounding adjacent land uses, staff is of the opinion that the request as presented
satisfies all the set standards for the operation of a bar.

Planner Long stated all the comments made at the technical review committee meeting
on July 28, 2020.

Planner Long reported that administration did have a few concerns about the layout of
the building to make sure that it was up to state building codes and fire codes.

Planner Long discussed that since the technical review meeting, a meeting was held with
the applicants and the city star Marshal to discuss the approximate occupancy number
and specific fire code requirements with the applicants based on the layout submitted
with the application.



Planner Long stated that the ladies have provided a revised layout that has been sent to
both building inspections and fire departments to satisfy all said requirements.

Planner Long stated that the approval or denial for special use permits are to be based
solely on how the proposed use meets all the required conditions and standards of the
local government and how the proposed use will be in harmony with the area in which is
located, and that the proposed use does not endanger the public’s health.

Planner Long reiterated that staff noted that the request as presented is in compliance
with the developments standards found in the unified development ordinance.

Planner stated recommendation of approval with the following conditions:

e All necessary state and local permits, including zoning permit business registration,
ABC permits shall be secured prior to commencing operations and continual
adherence to the development standard as stated in the city of Elizabeth City’s
Unified Development Ordinance.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked if the applicants to please introduce themselves.
Nicole Hyatt introduced herself and her business partner Mel Lescota.

Nicole Hyatt expressed that they were both very excited about the opportunity to bring
a premium wine bar to the Elizabeth City Community, stating that they will always uphold
the character of this beautiful town as they are simply excited to bring people together
in community.

Planner Long also stated for the record that she has not received any phone calls or
comments from adjacent property owners within 100 feet of the Kramer Building. Planner
Long emphasized that all adjacent property owners within 100 feet of the subject property
has been notified.

Commissioner Stallings asked the ladies what did they envision for their business.

Ms. Hyatt emphasized that they want their business to be a place where people can come
together in community and feel relaxed and comfortable with friends, coworkers, or even
a romantic interest, or just a place where you can enjoy a glass of wine alone. Ms. Hyatt
stated that she sees it as being more upscale.

Ms. Hyatt described other items they would have for sale, such as charcuterie boards that
include cheeses, sliced meat, spreads on olive oil, roasted garlic, nice fruit, and all things
good.

Ms. Hyatt remarked that all would be available for retail sales.



Ms. Hyatt also stated that they planned on selling wine to go and that they would also
like to have t-shirts. Ms. Hyatt stated that they had been in conversation with people who
make jellies locally, lip balm, and other miscellaneous things that they would provide for
retail sale.

Vice Chairman asked if there was anyone from the public who wished to speak on the
case.

This concluded the applicant presentation and public comment period.
Vice Chairman Biggs asked if there was motion on the floor.

Commissioner Stallings made a motion to recommend APPROVAL of CASE NO: SUP
01-20 based on the recommendations from the staff. Commissioner White seconded the
Motion. ALL IN FAVOR: Stallings, White, and Johnson. NONE OPPOSED.
MOTION CARRIED.

Planner Long reported that the fourth and final case for you tonight is case number RZ
02-20 filed by Mid Atlantic Christian University to rezone the following properties located
adjacent from the University. Planner Long stated that this included 701 North Poindexter
Street,705 North Poindexter Street, 709 North Poindexter Street, 711 north Poindexter
Street, 715 North Poindexter Street, 502 East Cypress Street, and 601 Walnut Street.

Planner Long stated that the properties are currently zoned R6 Residential and that the
applicant is requesting to rezone the properties to office and institutional.

Planner Long began her PowerPoint presentation to the Commission.

Planner Long reported that staff was of the opinion that the proposed rezoning request
was appropriate for the area and is consistent with the 2012 advanced core land use plan
and future land use designation and recommended approval of this application with the
following consistency statement.

The proposed rezoning request from R-6 Residential to Office Instructional (O&I) for the
following properties 891420906994, 891420917023, 891420917089, 891420918188,
891420906939, 891420918246 is found to be consistent with the Office and Institutional
future land use designation and is consistent with the Pasquotank County Elizabeth City
2012 Core Land Use Plan.

This concluded Planner Long’s presentation.
Vice Chairman Biggs asked the applicant to please introduce themselves.

Mr. John Maurice confirmed that he is the president of the Mid Atlantic University. Mr.
Maurice recollected that he went to school here in 1970 and back in that time the school



owned majority of this property and that the properties were as private residential homes
for professors. Mr. Maurice stated however, that for the last 20 years they’ve used those
homes for offices and classrooms and not residential purposes. Mr. Maurice stated that it
was discovered when they were looking at future development of the property and
realized that they would need to look at getting the property rezoned before they could
do anything else.

Vice Chairman Biggs wanted to know if there were any additional comments.

Planner Long reported that she has not received any comments to read into the record,
only one inquiry about the rezoning. Planner Long stated that a copy of the staff analysis
was sent to the adjacent property owner who inquired, however, no comments were
received.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked if there was motion on the floor.

Commissioner Stallings made a motion to recommend APPROVAL of CASE NO: RZ 02-
20. Commissioner White seconded the Motion. ALL IN FAVOR: Stallings, White, and
Johnson. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

This concluded the cases presented at the September 1, 2020 Planning Commission
Meeting.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked Staff is they had anything to report.

Director Thomson stated that in regards to the staff report she was very happy to report
that the community development department was currently fully staffed.

Director Thompson reported that they have hired their last Building Inspector Mr. Allen
Lawrence who has over 17 years’ experience in the private sector with construction and
land development.

Director Thompson also mentioned she is continuing to progress with the new online
permitted system OpenGov.

Director Thompson expressed that she is hoping to have a soft launch of the system on
October 1%,

Director Thompson stressed that this new system will allow for planning permits, building
permits, and code enforcement cases to be paid fully online.

Vice Chairman Biggs inquired about the new building inspector.

Director Thompson stated that his name was Allen Lawrence and his previous position
was foreman at the Weatherly Loft. Director Thompson stated that he comes with a



plethora of experience in building inspections and that they are very excited about having
him be a part of our team.

Commissioner White inquired about Stanley Ward.

Director Thompson informed the Commission that Stanley Ward had retired and that the
department currently had an interim chief building inspector, Mr. Alvin Rountree, who has
40 years of experience in building in this area.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked if there were any member concerns.
Vice Chairman Biggs entertained a motion to adjourn

Commissioner White made a motion to ADJOURN the Tuesday, September 1, 2020
Planning Commission Meeting. Commissioner Stallings seconded the motion. ALL IN
FAVOR: White, Johnson, AND Stallings. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Planning Commission adjourned at 5:25 pm.

Respectively Submitted,

LaToya Harper

Secretary



